STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Aiken County

Honorable Tanya A. Gee, Circuit Court Judge

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF
DANIEL LEE LARD,

RECEIVED

DEC 19 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001940

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

David Alexander
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

In this SVP case, did the trial court err in denying appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the State's hired expert's diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder was both factually and legally insufficient for commitment under the SVP statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 28, 2014, the Attorney General filed a petition to commit appellant Daniel Lard under the Sexually Violent Predator Act. R. 178. Appellant's immediate predicate offense was a guilty plea for second degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor. R. 187. The Honorable Michael G. Nettles sentenced appellant to twenty years' imprisonment suspended upon time served and three years' probation. R. 187.

On August 31, 2015, appellant's SVP trial was held before the Honorable Tanya A. Gee and a jury. R. 1. Christopher Morrow represented the State. R. 1. Aimee J. Zmroczek represented appellant. R. 1. The jury determined that appellant met the definition of a sexually violent predator. R. 171, ll. 8 – 17. Judge Gee committed appellant. R. 176, ll. 4 – 6. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

In this SVP case, the trial court erred in denying appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the State's hired expert's diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder was both factually and legally insufficient for commitment under the SVP statute.

Appellant Daniel Lard received a suspended, time-served sentence for second degree criminal sexual conduct for having sex with a fifteen-year-old girl when he was twenty years old. R. 127, ll. 2 – 7. R. 187. Appellant also received three years' probation. R. 187. Appellant's probation was revoked because he left the state without permission. R. 110, ll. 14 – 25. Appellant was having trouble making enough money to pay the fines and fees associated with probation and left the state to make more money. R. 110, l. 14 – 111, l. 11.

Despite receiving a time-served sentence and a revocation of probation that did not include any acts of sex or violence, the Attorney General initiated SVP proceedings when the term of appellant's probation revocation concluded. Dr. Marie Gehle ("Gehle") of the Department of Mental Health was appointed by the court to evaluate appellant. R. 121, l. 15 – 122, l. 3. Dr. Gehle did not recommend commitment. R. 131, ll. 16 – 22. Dr. Gehle did not find the existence of a mental abnormality or personality disorder. R. 124, ll. 9 – 11. R. 129, l. 12 – 130, l. 6. Dr. Gehle also credited appellant's improvement since his early confinement in DJJ and the observations of his therapist in prison who said he did well in treatment. R. 126, ll. 2 – 22.

The Attorney General rejected Dr. Gehle's independent opinion and, at the cost of \$4,500.00, hired Dr. Amy Swan ("Swan"), who is in private practice in Florida, to evaluate appellant. R. 36, l. 25 – 37, l. 5. R. 76, l. 4 – 77, l. 8. R. 39, ll. 1 – 11. Dr. Swan had testified for the Attorney General fourteen other times in South Carolina, which would amount to

\$63,000.00 in fees assuming she was paid the same each time. R. 37, ll. 16 – 22.

Unsurprisingly, Dr. Swan recommended committing appellant. R. 72, ll. 2 – 17.

The principal disagreement between the experts at trial was whether appellant had the requisite mental abnormality or personality disorder necessary to qualify as an SVP. The Attorney General's hired expert diagnosed appellant with antisocial personality disorder. R. 52, ll. 6 – 13. The independent court-appointed expert from DMH did not. R. 124, ll. 9 – 11. Appellant does **not** have pedophilia. R. 84, ll. 21 – 23.

The hired expert, Dr. Swan, explained:

There are two pathways to committing a sexual crime. One is having a sexual disorder. In this case I did not diagnose Mr. Lard with a sexual disorder. But the other pathway **is having a general criminal lifestyle** or having antisocial personality disorder. I did diagnose him with that.

R. 51, ll. 3 – 12 (emphasis added).

Dr. Swan relied on appellant's disciplinary infractions in DJJ to make her diagnosis. R. 51, l. 13 – 52, l. 13. Appellant had twenty-two infractions in DJJ. R. 51, l. 13 – 52, l. 2. However, as an adult in the Department of Corrections, this number had reduced to only one infraction. R. 51, l. 13 – 52, l. 2. None of these infractions were sexual in nature. R. 52, ll. 3 – 5. The lone infraction in the Department of Corrections was for cutting some pants and making shorts. R. 86, l. 25 – 87, l. 11. Nevertheless, Dr. Swan stated appellant's disciplinary infractions were "significant" to her diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder because one of its features "is obviously a rule-breaking behavior, not being able to follow the rules, comply with the laws." R. 52, ll. 6 – 13.

Dr. Swan mined appellant's mental health history for further evidence to support her diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder. R. 56, l. 22 – 58, l. 15. She found many of the

documents “significant.” R. 56, l. 22 – 58, l. 15. For example, appellant “does not do his chores.” R. 56, l. 22 – 58, l. 15. Appellant also “had a chip on his shoulder” and had a “poor attitude toward the staff members.” R. 56, l. 22 – 58, l. 15. Dr. Swan listed the characteristics of antisocial personality disorder:

- “failure to conform to social norms with respect to lawful behavior”
- “deceitfulness, impulsivity, irritability and aggressiveness”
- “reckless disregard for the safety of self and others”
- “consistent irresponsibility”
- “lack of remorse”

R. 69, ll. 4 – 11. She stated that while antisocial personality disorder is “not curable,” individuals tend to “mellow out” when they reach their forties (appellant was 28 at the time of trial). R. 69, ll. 12 – 17. She described this as “a burnout of criminal behavior.” R. 69, ll. 12 – 17.

Dr. Swan said appellant had many of these characteristics. R. 69, l. 18 – 71, l. 21. She cited his conviction for CSC and arrests for grand larceny and burglary as evidence of his lack of respect for lawful behavior. R. 69, l. 18 – 71, l. 21. Among the evidence of deceitfulness, Dr. Swan cited lying to his probation officer and being unfaithful to the mother of his children. R. 69, l. 18 – 71, l. 21. Appellant showed irritability and aggressiveness, in part because he hit his mother with a BB gun when he was a child. R. 69, l. 18 – 71, l. 21. Dr. Swan also said appellant showed evidence of “conduct disorder” prior to age fifteen in part because he kicked several children in the groin when he was eleven years old and shot a dog with a BB gun. R. 69, l. 18 – 71, l. 21.

On cross-examination, Dr. Swan admitted that antisocial personality disorder cannot be diagnosed until an individual is eighteen years old. R. 85, ll. 3 – 9. Prior to the Attorney General hiring Dr. Swan in 2015, no one had ever diagnosed appellant with antisocial personality disorder. R. 84, l. 21 – 85, l. 9. Appellant’s therapist in the Department of Corrections never diagnosed him with antisocial personality disorder and Dr. Swan agreed the therapist rated appellant “at the top of his class” in his treatment. R. 93, ll. 3 – 13.

Defense counsel questioned Dr. Swan about whether antisocial personality disorder meant appellant could not control his behavior. R. 93, l. 22 – 95, l. 19. Dr. Swan stated that “75 to 80 percent of the men in prison have antisocial personality disorder.” R. 94, ll. 13 – 21. When asked directly whether appellant’s purported antisocial personality disorder means appellant had a lack of ability to control his behavior, Dr. Swan replied, “Not necessarily. Sometimes they choose not to control their behavior.” R. 94, ll. 8 – 12 (emphasis added).

Dr. Swan was the State’s only witness and the State rested after her testimony. R. 102, ll. 16 – 19. Appellant moved for a directed verdict. R. 103, l. 25 – 107, l. 2. Defense counsel argued there was no “link between the antisocial personality disorder and the volition requirement.” R. 103, l. 25 – 104, l. 4. Defense counsel also argued that Dr. Swan’s opinion was factually insufficient because most of the incidents she used to diagnose appellant occurred before age eighteen when antisocial personality disorder cannot be diagnosed. R. 103, l. 25 – 107, l. 2. The Attorney General argued that antisocial personality disorder “is directly linked to his risk to re-offend and his volition[al] capacity.” R. 106, ll. 7 – 18. Judge Gee denied appellant’s motion. R. 106, l. 19 - 107, l. 2. Appellant renewed his motion at the close of his case. R. 140, l. 22 – 141, l. 5.

The trial judge erred in denying appellant's directed verdict motion. The Attorney General failed to prove that appellant's supposed antisocial personality disorder was legally sufficient for commitment under the SVP Act. The Act and due process require a link between the personality disorder and the likelihood of reoffending. Kansas v. Hendricks, 521 U.S. 346, 371-72 (1997). In Justice Kennedy's concurrence in Hendricks, he stated that if "it were shown that mental abnormality is too imprecise a category to offer a solid basis for concluding that civil detention is justified, our precedents would not suffice to validate it." Id. at 372. The vagueness and generality of antisocial personality is just the imprecision against which Justice Kennedy warned.

The majority in Hendricks wrote extensively about whether the Kansas statute's definition of mental abnormality satisfied substantive due process. Id. at 356-60. Approving the Kansas statute, the Court wrote that it required "evidence of past sexually violent behavior and a present mental condition **that creates** a likelihood of such conduct in the future if the person is not incapacitated." Id. at 357 (emphasis added). Focusing on the lack of control, the Court stated that the "lack of volitional control, coupled with a prediction of future dangerousness, adequately distinguishes Hendricks from other dangerous persons who are perhaps more properly dealt with exclusively through criminal proceedings." Id. at 360. From the Court's opinion, it is clear that due process requires a link between the mental abnormality and the inability to control future sexual behavior.

The Supreme Court refined its holding in Kansas v. Crane, 534 U.S. 407 (2002). The Court rejected the defendant's argument that due process requires the state to prove complete lack of control. Id. at 411. But the Court also rejected the state's argument that it did not have to prove any lack of control. Id. at 412. The Court wrote that the lack of control finding

distinguishes dangerous sexual offenders from other persons who are dangerous and this “distinction is necessary lest ‘civil commitment’ become a ‘mechanism for retribution or general deterrence’—functions properly those of criminal law, not civil commitment. Id. In its citation for this sentence, the Court noted a study that found that “40% - 60% of the male prison population is diagnosable with antisocial personality disorder.” Id. *citing* Moran, The Epidemiology of Antisocial Personality Disorder, 37 *Social Psychiatry & Psychiatric Epidemiology* 231, 234 (1999). The Court further held that there “must be proof of serious difficulty in controlling behavior.” Id. at 413. Elaborating, the Court stated that the proof of lack of control

when viewed in light of such features of the case as the **nature of the psychiatric diagnosis, and the severity of the mental abnormality itself**, must be sufficient to distinguish the dangerous sexual offender whose serious mental illness, abnormality, or disorder subjects him to civil commitment **from the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case.**

Id. (emphasis added).

Our Supreme Court interpreted Crane in In re Treatment and Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 568 S.E.2d 338 (2002). The Court wrote in Luckabaugh, “[W]e believe Crane holds the substantive due process clause requires a court to determine an individual suffers from a mental illness **which makes it** seriously difficult, though not impossible, for that person to control his dangerous propensities.” Luckabaugh at 143, 568 S.E.2d at 348 (emphasis added). “Inherent within the mental abnormality prong of the Act is a lack of control determination” Id. at 144, 568 S.E.2d at 349. Like the United States Supreme Court, our Supreme Court requires a link between the mental abnormality or personality disorder and the defendant’s inability to control his sexual impulses. “The purpose of the SVPA is to involuntarily commit only a limited subclass of dangerous persons and not to broadly subject any dangerous person to

what may be an indefinite term of confinement.” In re Thomas S., 402 S.C. 373, 741 S.E.2d 27 (2013) (internal quotations omitted).

Dr. Swan’s diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder is legally insufficient to meet the constitutional and statutory requirement of a “personality disorder that makes the person likely to engage in acts of sexual violence” unless committed. In re Taft, 413 S.C. 16, 22, 774 S.E.2d 462, 465 (2015). As Dr. Swan admitted, 75-80% of the male prison population could be diagnosed with antisocial personality disorder. R. 94, ll. 13 – 21. Dr. Swan’s response to the lack of control question unwittingly demonstrated the nonexistent connection. R. 94, ll. 8 – 12. She replied, “Not necessarily. Sometimes they **choose** not to control their behavior.” R. 94, ll. 8 – 12 (emphasis added). The hired expert’s use of the word “choose” is important. If someone can choose whether to break the law, that does not indicate a lack of control. Our criminal law exists to punish those who choose to break the law. The SVP Act exists for those who cannot control their behavior.

Antisocial personality disorder has recently been held legally insufficient by the New York Court of Appeals. State v. Donald DD, 24 N.Y.3d 174 (2014). In Donald DD.’s case, he had sex with a fourteen-year-old acquaintance when he was eighteen and then forced himself on her twelve-year-old cousin in 2002. Id. at 181. In 2004, after his release from prison, Donald DD. raped his wife’s friend in a cemetery. Id. After his release, he violated probation and was then released again on parole when he molested his children and had forcible sex with his wife. Id. at 182. His parole was revoked and the state brought an SVP proceeding against him. Id. at 182-83. Two psychologists testified that Donald DD. had antisocial personality disorder. Id. Like appellant, Donald DD. was not diagnosed with any paraphilias. Id. at 183. Both psychologists testified that

Donald DD.'s antisocial personality disorder gave him serious difficulty in controlling his sex-offending conduct. Id. at 183-84.

Citing Crane and other authorities for the point that the vast majority of all incarcerated offenders could be diagnosed with antisocial personality disorder, the court held:

A diagnosis of [antisocial personality disorder] alone—that is, when the [antisocial personality disorder] diagnosis is not accompanied by a diagnosis of any other condition, disease or disorder alleged to constitute a mental abnormality—simply does not distinguish the sex offender whose mental abnormality subjects him to civil commitment from the typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case.

Id. at 190 (emphasis added). The court's analysis reveals that a diagnosis of antisocial personality disorder simply has so little probative value regarding inability to control the commission of sexual crimes that it was legally insufficient to form the basis for commitment. Id. at 190-92. Appellant urges this Court to adopt the New York Court of Appeals' reasoning in Donald DD.¹