RECEIVED

APR 14 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal From Greenville County
The Honorable Robin B. Stillwell, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-001181

IN THE MATTER OF THE CARE AND TREATMENT OF
JEFFREY ALLEN CHAPMAN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The right to counsel in sexual predator cases is a statutory right, and the statute does not provide a right to effective assistance of counsel, but if the Court finds such a right, ineffective assistance allegations should not be considered on direct appeal because committees under the SVPA can raise ineffective assistance of counsel through common law habeas corpus proceedings, which afford all parties, including trial counsel, an opportunity for the full evidentiary hearing necessary for appellate review, and the Strickland two part test should be used to assess the ineffective assistance claims. (Appellant's Issues 1, 2 and 8).

Appellant contends trial counsel was ineffective as a matter of law, and the alleged ineffectiveness should be determined in this direct appeal because the SVPA does not provide a mechanism to raise ineffective assistance of counsel issues, and he has no other available mechanism to raise the issues. Appellant concedes the specific issues he asserts as ineffective assistance of counsel are not preserved for appellate review, and such issues would not be decided on direct appeal, even in a death penalty case. In the face of those concessions, however, he asks this Court to ignore long standing issue preservation precedent, and essentially apply a plain error standard of review to decide the issues anyway, all without affording trial counsel an opportunity to be heard. Further, contrary to Appellant's contention, there is a well-established and available mechanism for him to raise ineffective assistance of counsel issues arising from a sexually violent predator case.

A. Effective Assistance of Counsel in SVPA Cases

Appellant argues, extensively, that in addition to the statutory right to counsel, there is a due process right to effective assistance of counsel in SVPA cases under the federal and state constitutions. This Court has already determined a person the State

seeks to commit under the SVPA has no Sixth or Fourteenth Amendment right to counsel, but does have a statutory right to counsel under S.C. Code Ann. § 44-48-90 (2003). In re McCoy, 360 S.C. 425, 427, 602 S.E.2d 58, 59 (2004)²; *see also* In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 551 S.E.2d 235, 240 (2001) (the only right to counsel under the SVPA is the statutory right to the assistance of appointed counsel).

The primary issue, therefore, is whether the statutory right under the SVPA encompasses the right to “effective” assistance of counsel. The statute does not afford that right, normally arising from the Sixth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments, which do not apply to civil cases under the SVPA. In essence, Appellant is attempting to put a square peg in a round hole, and asks this Court to juxtapose post-conviction relief (PCR) rights and procedures on SVPA proceedings, minus the inconvenience of providing a record for meaningful appellate review.

If this Court holds the statutory right to counsel under the SVPA includes the right to effective assistance of counsel, however, the remaining issues are how such claims should be litigated, and what standard should be used to determine whether counsel was ineffective. Rather than force the square peg into a round hole, there is already a round hole available to Appellant, even though it may be inconvenient for him to use it.

B. Availability of Relief

Appellant contends he has no avenue other than direct appeal to raise ineffective assistance of counsel allegations. On the contrary, if such a right exists, the common law

²Even though the Court specifically cites the Fourteenth Amendment in the McCoy opinion, by way of footnote, Appellant asserts the Fourteenth Amendment reference was dicta, and the constitutional issue was not before the Court. To the contrary, rather than mere dicta, the constitutional references in McCoy were central to the Court’s adoption of a meritless appeal procedure in SVPA cases.

habeas corpus petition provides an adequate, and more appropriate, forum for litigating such allegations.

The South Carolina Constitution provides the “privilege of the writ of habeas corpus shall not be suspended unless when, in case of insurrection, rebellion or invasion, the public safety may require it.” S.C. Const., Art. 1, §18. Habeas corpus is available when other remedies, such as PCR, are inadequate or unavailable. Hamm v. State, 403 S.C. 461, 744 S.E.2d 503, 504 (2013); *see also* Williams v. Ozmint, 380 S.C. 473, 671 S.E.2d 600, 602 (2008) (“a writ of habeas corpus is reserved for the very gravest of constitutional violations which, in the setting, constitute a denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice”); McWee v. State, 357 S.C. 403, 593 S.E.2d 456, 457 (2004) (habeas relief will only be granted under “unique and compelling circumstances”); Butler v. State, 302 S.C. 466, 397 S.E.2d 87, 88 (1990) (“[N]ot every intervening decision, nor every constitutional error at trial will justify issuance of the writ.”) (internal quotations and citations omitted). The PCR statute superseded habeas corpus for post-conviction relief, but the common law privilege still exists, and Appellant cites no cases to the contrary. As noted above, the SVPA does not provide a process for litigating ineffective assistance of appointed counsel, and therefore, if the Court holds the SVPA statutory right to counsel includes effective assistance of counsel, habeas corpus is available to address those issues.

In Hamm, a SVPTP resident filed a habeas petition in the South Carolina Supreme Court seeking release from his civil commitment under the SVPA, alleging counsel in his criminal case was ineffective under Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356 (2010), by failing to advise him of the SVPA implications before he pled guilty to the

predicate SVPA offense.³ The Court denied the petition, finding the resident failed to file a timely PCR petition on the issue, and therefore, failed to exhaust all available remedies before seeking habeas relief. Hamm at 504.

Significantly, the Court did **not** hold habeas relief was never available to a SVPTP resident, and as discussed above, precluding habeas relief would be contrary to the state constitution. To the contrary, the Court explicitly recognizes a SVPTP resident's right to file a habeas petition when appropriate. In re: McCracken, 346 S.C. 7, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (SVPTP resident's remedy for unconstitutional confinement under the SVPA would be by writ of habeas corpus).⁴ *See also* Douglas v. Hall, 229 S.C. 550, 93 S.E.2d 891, 894 (1956) (writ of habeas corpus always available to test the legality of proceedings in which person was civilly committed on grounds of insanity).

Appellant correctly asserts the PCR statute and S.C. Code Ann. §17-17-10 (Supp. 2014) (the habeas statute) are only available to people either convicted of a crime (PCR statute), or committed or detained for a crime (habeas statute), and he could not seek relief under those statutes because his current commitment/detention is not punishment for a criminal conviction, or other pending criminal charges. Nothing in either statute relates to civil cases, however, or trumps the constitutionally recognized common law right to petition for habeas relief if other remedies are unavailable. Rather, the PCR statute provides the functional equivalent of a habeas proceeding, and the habeas statute

³In fact, multiple SVPTP residents have filed habeas petitions in the circuit court.

⁴Appellant's assertion the habeas right referenced in McCracken is "limited to challenging the conditions of their confinement" is simply incorrect. Nothing in the Court's opinion imposes such a limitation.

merely recognizes the right to seek habeas relief prior to conviction if detained on criminal charges.

Requiring a petition for habeas relief to assert ineffective assistance of counsel allegations avoids the problem of trying to decide such claims on the record in a direct appeal, a problem readily apparent in this case. A habeas proceeding would include an evidentiary hearing similar to PCR hearings, which affords trial counsel the opportunity to address the ineffective assistance of counsel allegations, and provides the appellate courts a full record, including the circuit court's findings and conclusions, for review purposes. Absent a full record, the appellate courts: 1) will not have the benefit of trial counsel's input, and have to assume counsel had no legitimate, strategic reasons for proceeding in a particular way; 2) engage in rank speculation based on appellate counsel's assertions regarding what trial counsel should, or should not, have done; 3) ignore issue preservation rules; and 4) apply the plain error standard of review consistently rejected in South Carolina.

Appellant relies heavily on In re Ontiberos, 295 Kan. 10, 287 P.2d 855 (2012), arguing this Court should follow the Kansas Supreme Court's analysis of ineffective assistance of counsel claims in sexual predator cases because the SVPA was modeled on the Kansas sexual predator statute.⁵ There are significant aspects of the Ontiberos analysis impacting its applicability to South Carolina sexual predator cases.

A central basis for the Kansas court's right to counsel analysis in Ontiberos was the Kansas statute's provision that failure to comply with the statute's requirements,

⁵Appellant apparently equates "modeled on" with "indistinguishable." As discussed below, however, there is at least one clear distinction between the SVPA and the Kansas statute that goes to the heart of the Ontiberos analysis.

arguably including the statutory right to counsel, did not prevent the state from pursuing a sexual predator determination, which the court found diluted the statutory right to counsel and required a constitutional analysis. 287 P.2d at 863. South Carolina's SVPA has no such provision, and the statutory right to counsel is not diluted in any way.

Further, Kansas had a specific precedent regarding appellate court remand to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing on ineffective assistance of counsel claims raised on direct appeal, and the Kansas Court of Appeals had already remanded the case for an evidentiary hearing pursuant to that precedent. *Id.* at 865-866 (citing State v. Van Cleave, 239 Kan. 117, 716 P.2d 580 [1986]). The committee argued he could not file a habeas petition to raise his ineffective assistance of counsel claims, and the Court of Appeals did not have authority to remand the case on direct appeal for an evidentiary hearing on the allegations. The Kansas Supreme Court disagreed, finding the committee could file a habeas petition, but the remand was an appropriate exercise of discretion. *Id.* As a result, the appellate court had a full record in the committee's direct appeal on which to assess the ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

South Carolina appellate courts unquestionably have discretion to remand any case to the trial court for further proceedings, but unlike Kansas, there is no established precedent in South Carolina providing for remand **only** to develop issues raised for the first time on direct appeal when the party has another available avenue, such as habeas corpus, to raise those issues. Remanding under the circumstances of this case essentially eviscerates issue preservation and imposes a plain error standard of review, which appears to be Appellant's ultimate goal. *See* Brief of Appellant, p. 45 (asserting SVPA constitutionality problem compounded by "this Court's consistent refusal to adopt a plain

error standard,” and constitutional infirmity would be remedied “[i]f South Carolina used plain error review”).

In Manning v. State, 913 So.2d 37 (1st Dist Fla. Ct. App., 2005), the court determined habeas corpus, rather than direct appeal, was the appropriate avenue to develop and decide a committee’s ineffective assistance of counsel claims in cases under Florida’s sexually violent predator statute, even though a habeas proceeding might not be the most convenient process. Subsequent to the Manning case, the Florida Supreme Court promulgated Rule 4.460, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure for Involuntary Commitment of Sexually Violent Predators, which expressly provides habeas corpus is an available mechanism to raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims in sexual predator cases. Bohner v. State, 157 So.3d 526, 527 (1st Dist. Fla. Ct. App., 2015).

Admittedly, as Appellant notes, some courts have decided ineffective assistance claims on direct appeal in sexual predator cases when the claims did not require development of facts, which is not the case currently before this Court. As discussed below, notwithstanding Appellant’s conclusory proclamations regarding trial counsel’s deficiencies, all Appellant’s allegations, with one notable exception, require development of facts before a court can render a truly informed decision on whether trial counsel was so ineffective it shocked the conscious, and Appellant was prejudiced to the point he could not receive a fair trial.

C. Appropriate Standard for Ineffective Assistance Analysis in SVPA Cases

Appellant concedes the vast majority of jurisdictions addressing the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel in civil commitment cases use the two part analysis established in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) (to warrant reversal based

on ineffective assistance of counsel, defendant must show both deficient performance and resulting prejudice). He argues Strickland imposes an “unreasonably” low standard for counsel’s performance and an onerous burden to show ineffective assistance. He further argues the “denial of fundamental fairness shocking to the universal sense of justice” habeas standard imposes a “nearly insurmountable legal standard” even more onerous than Strickland.⁶ He asks this Court to adopt the ineffective assistance of counsel analysis espoused by the Montana Supreme Court in the civil (**not** sexual predator) commitment case of In Re: Mental Health of K.G.F., 306 Mont. 1, 29 P.3d 485 (2001).

In K.G.F., the court considered the right to counsel afforded by a state statute governing civil commitment of mentally ill individuals whose illness made them a danger to themselves or others.⁷ No criminal act was required to trigger applicability of the statute, and the process was completed in two days. Looking to guidelines developed by a national advocacy group, the court espoused five “critical areas” to define the scope of effective representation in commitment cases, and held an involuntary commitment must be vacated “upon a **substantial showing of evidence** . . . that counsel did not effectively represent the patient-respondent’s interest” in those areas. 29 P.3d at 498-501 (emphasis added).

Significantly, in Ontiberos, the case Appellant asserts should control in this case, the Kansas Supreme Court expressly **rejected** the K.G.F. analysis, and adopted the

⁶This contention reveals the real reason Appellant does not want to use the available habeas procedure.

⁷It appears the Montana statute at issue is similar to probate court proceedings in South Carolina.

Strickland test for ineffective assistance of counsel claims in civil commitment proceedings under the Kansas sexual predator statute.

Numerous other jurisdictions use Strickland for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel raised by persons committed under that state's sexually violent predator law. *See, e.g., Jenkins*, 271 Va. at 16, 624 S.E.2d 453 (recognizing a constitutional right to effective counsel and evaluating the claim under Strickland); State of Texas for the Best Interest *29 and Protection of H.W., 85 S.W.3d 348, 356 (Tex.App.2002) (same); People v. Rainey, 325 Ill.App.3d 573, 585–86, 259 Ill.Dec. 369, 758 N.E.2d 492 (2001) (recognizing statutory right to effective counsel and evaluating that claim under Strickland); In re Crane, 704 N.W.2d 437, 439 (Iowa 2005) (same); In re Alleged Mental Illness of Cordie, 372 N.W.2d 24, 29 (Minn.App.1985) (same). These courts applied Strickland regardless of whether that court held that the person's right to effective counsel arose from statute or the constitution.

Ontiveros, 287 P.3d at 868. In rejecting the K.F.G. analysis, the court noted no other jurisdiction had adopted it, and stated:

The Montana court's criticism of Strickland appears partially based on the abbreviated, 2–day time frame in which persons found to be a danger to themselves are civilly committed under Montana's commitment statutes. 306 Mont. at 8, 29 P.3d 485 (“[T]he conduct of counsel during those few available hours prior to an involuntary commitment hearing or trial should be a key focal point of the inquiry as to whether the counsel's representation was effective.”). But that process is distinguishable from KSVPA proceedings because counsel has substantially more time to prepare under the KSVPA since the statute requires a trial within 60 days of the probable cause hearing..

Id. See also In re Detention of Moore, 167 Wash.2d 113, 216 P.3d 1015, 1020-1021 (2009) (applying Strickland in a sexual predator proceeding); In re Det. of T.A.H.-L., 123 Wash. App. 172, 97 P.3d 767, 771-72 (2004) (rejecting K.F.G. analysis and finding Strickland analysis sufficient to protect the right to effective assistance of counsel in civil commitment cases). As these courts found, the Strickland standard is well known and

supported by a well-developed body of case law, and there is no reason to create a separate standard for civil commitment cases. Ontiberos, 287 P.3d at 867.

The SVPA affords counsel substantially more than two days to prepare the case for trial. The earliest trial date under the statute is sixty days from the circuit court's finding of probable cause, assuming the court appointed evaluator does not get an extension of time to prepare the evaluation report, and neither party seeks an independent evaluation. If a party does seek an independent evaluation, the statutory trial deadline is ninety days from the date of the court appointed evaluator's report, and either party can seek a continuance for good cause. Therefore, as the court found in Ontiberos, the K.G.F. analysis is unnecessary.

If the Court finds the SVPA statutory right to counsel includes the right to effective assistance of counsel, the State submits the standard for habeas corpus relief is appropriate for ineffective assistance of counsel claims in SVPA cases. The Strickland standard can then provide a framework for determining whether counsel's performance was so deficient it was shocking to the conscious and undermined the fundamental fairness of the SVPA proceeding.

Appellant has an available procedure to raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims, if such a right exists, which will result in development of a full record for appellate review, and he should not be able to circumvent well established issue preservation rules by raising his claims in this direct appeal. While remand may be possible, remanding this case will set a precedent for similar claims in virtually all SVPA proceedings, and any other proceeding in which habeas relief is available but inconvenient. Therefore, even if the Court finds a right to effective assistance of counsel

exists in SVPA cases, the Court should find Appellant's claims are not preserved for direct review, and affirm Appellant's commitment as a sexually violent predator.

II. If the Court considers Appellant's ineffective assistance of counsel allegations on direct appeal, they are premised on speculation, misstatements of the record, and appellate counsel's opinions regarding what trial counsel should have done, without benefit of trial counsel's input. (Appellant's Issues 3-7).

Assuming there is a right to effective assistance of counsel under the SVPA statutory right to counsel, Appellant contends trial counsel's purported performance deficiencies are sufficiently demonstrated by the record, and this Court can readily rule on his ineffective assistance allegations without further information. To the contrary, in the event the Court considers Appellant's ineffective assistance claims in this direct appeal, except for one allegation legally inaccurate on its face, each purported deficiency is premised on speculation, misstatements of the record, and appellate counsel's opinions, all without benefit of trial counsel's input. In Strickland, the U.S. Supreme Court acknowledged the importance of considering trial counsel's strategy during trial:

The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions. Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant. . . . And when a defendant has given counsel reason to believe that pursuing certain investigations would be fruitless or even harmful, counsel's failure to pursue those investigations may not later be challenged as unreasonable. In short, inquiry into counsel's conversations with the defendant may be critical to a proper assessment of counsel's investigation decisions, just as it may be critical to a proper assessment of counsel's other litigation decisions.

466 U.S. at 690-91.

This case involves an experienced trial counsel, who vigorously cross-examined the State's expert and presented four witnesses on Appellant's behalf. It is inherently unfair to judge counsel's trial performance without affording him a reasonable opportunity to respond to allegations regarding the effectiveness of his representation.

Further, in order to respond to such allegations without counsel's input, which is still protected by the attorney/client privilege, the State must speculate regarding matters outside the record, such as counsel's interaction with his client, and his strategic decisions at trial. With that limitation in mind, the State submits each allegation is meritless.

A. Ted Bundy Reference (Appellant's Issue 3)

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